RECEIVED

09-06-2017

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2017AP001337-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ZACHARY S. FRIEDLANDER,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal From an Order Denying Sentence Credit Entered in the Jefferson County Circuit Court, the Honorable David J. Wambach, Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

JEREMY A. NEWMAN Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1084404 newmanj@opd.wi.gov

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 264-8566

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUE PRESENTED

Is Friedlander entitled to additional sentence credit to account for the 65 days he was "at liberty" through no fault of his own, pursuant to *State v. Riske* and *State v. Dentici*?

The circuit court denied Friedlander credit for this period of time.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Friedlander does not request oral argument as the briefs should fully present the issue on appeal. *See* Wis. Stat. § (RULE) 809.22(2)(b). Publication is not requested as the issue presented involves the application of well-settled rules to a fact situation not substantially different from that in published opinions. *See* Wis. Stat. § (RULE) 809.23(1)(b)1.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On April 15, 2016, Zachary S. Friedlander pled no contest to and proceeded to sentencing on one count of felony bail jumping. (40:1; App. 101-03). The plea agreement consisted of a joint recommendation for a withheld sentence, three years probation, and eight months in jail, forthwith, as a condition of probation. (36:1, 70:9-13; App. 155-58).

The state, in making its sentencing recommendation, noted that part of the basis for the joint recommendation was the fact that Friedlander was serving a prison sentence imposed in Jefferson County Case No. 14-CF-212. (70:9; App. 155). The parties expected Friedlander to be released from that sentence in early October 2016, and acknowledged

that the joint recommendation for eight months conditional jail time would extend Friedlander's release date by about "60 to 75 days." (70:9; App. 155).

The court then inquired whether the understanding of the parties, based on the joint recommendation, was that Friedlander would be released from prison to serve the remaining portion of the conditional jail time in the county jail. (70:13; App. 157). Counsel for Friedlander explained that he believed Friedlander would serve all of the conditional jail time in prison. (70:13; App. 157). The court questioned that understanding because "the word in the statute is "sentence," and this is conditional jail, which is not a sentence." (70:13; App. 157). The state then expressed its opinion that "one of two things will happen," either Friedlander would serve the remaining conditional time in prison or "they'll send him to the jail to finish it..." (70:13; App. 157). The court then explained:

Mr. Friedlander, with the understanding that in all likelihood ... you may have to go from prison to spending some time in the county jail before you're done with any incarceration.

(70:14; App. 158).

In response, Friedlander affirmed his plea and stated that he would like to proceed with his plea. (70:14; App. 158). The court then further explained that if it follows the joint recommendation: "that it may not be that you're able to spend all of this time in prison before being released to extended supervision and concurrent probation." (70:14-15; App. 158-59). After clarifying that he would have to finish out his current prison sentence in prison, Friedlander told the court that he would like to proceed. (70:15; App. 159).

Thereafter, the court adopted the joint recommendation of the parties and withheld sentence and placed Friedlander on probation for three years and ordered eight months in the county jail as a condition of probation. (70:19-20; App. 163-64). The court then explained:

If that can be, despite this court's understanding, if the Department of Corrections interprets this as a sentence, such that it should be served in the prison system, you're not going to see this court taking any exception to that, and in many ways I think it would make a lot of sense, but I have stated what I believe the Court's legal conclusion to be, which is that because this is conditional jail time, it's not a sentence and so the incarceration may, because it does not meet the definition of a sentence, be interpreted similarly by the Department of Corrections, and so they may say when you're done serving your sentence in [14-CF-212] it may be that you're going to have to come here and then spend some time because this eight months jail the Court is ordering begins today.

(70:20-21; App. 164-65).

On November 23, 2016, Jefferson County Sheriff Captain Duane R. Scott sent a letter to the circuit court. (41). In that letter, Captain Scott recounted that Friedlander was "sentenced" in this case for felony bail jumping on April 15, 2016. (41). Captain Scott noted that the court ordered Friedlander, "as a condition...to serve an 8 month jail sentence forthwith. Mr. Friedlander was currently serving another prison sentence at Oshkosh prison and was returned to Oshkosh with a detainer." (41). Captain Scott further informed the court that on November 11, 2016, the county jail was contacted by the child support agency "inquiring if Mr. Friedlander was in custody." (41). According to Captain Scott, the Jefferson County Sheriff's Office believed

Friedlander was still in prison, but was informed by the child support agency that "he had been released on September 27, 2016, by the Wisconsin State Prison system without notice to the jail." (41). Next, Captain Scott's letter informed the court that Sergeant Timothy Behselich contacted Friedlander's probation officer, Amy Wisely, who informed Sergeant Behselich that Friedlander was in the area and that she would have him contact Captain Scott. (41). Captain Scott told Ms. Wisely that he believed Friedlander should report to the jail and, according to Captain Scott, Ms. Wisely said she would contact her supervisor. (41).

Captain Scott then informed the court that Friedlander called him back later that day and informed Captain Scott that a social worker at Oshkosh Correctional Institution had told him that his "time on 15 CF 326 was completed during his prison stay." (41). Further, Captain Scott relayed to the court that "Amber from DCI Records" told Sergeant Behselich that Friedlander "should have been picked up by his [p]robation agent to come to the jail to complete his sentence in September." (41).

Finally, Captain Scott's letter explained that the purpose of his letter was to request from the court "direction for his Probation Agent and the jail as to what should be done with Mr. Friedlander: should he report for the remainder of the time until his original release date on the 8 month sentence 12/11/2016? And what should be done with the days he was not in jail." (41). No warrant was issued for Friedlander's arrest.

The circuit court held a hearing concerning Captain Scott's letter on December 1, 2016. Friedlander, who was informed of the hearing by his probation agent the day prior, appeared for the hearing voluntarily and with his trial counsel. (71:2-3, 33; App. 105-06).

The court began the hearing by confirming that, while the court had authorized Huber release and work release on Friedlander's conditional jail term, the Sheriff's Office had not actually granted Friedlander release from jail pursuant to the court's order. (40:1, 71:7; App. 101, 110). The court also clarified that, generally, defendants are not entitled to earn good time credit while serving a jail term ordered as a condition of probation. (71:7-9; App. 110-12). Next, the court made a finding of fact that Friedlander was released from prison on September 27, 2016. (71:9; App. 112). Moreover, the court found that from April 15, 2016, through September 27, 2016, Friedlander served "165 days of the eight-month jail sentence" and that he had 75 days left to serve as of September 27, 2016. (71:10, 22; App. 113, 125).

Next, Sheriff's Deputy Rebecca Owen testified via phone from the jail concerning her knowledge of Friedlander's case. (71:14-20; App. 117-23). Deputy Owen explained that on November 11, 2016, the jail first learned that Friedlander was no longer in custody of the Wisconsin State Prison system and that he had been released from prison on September 27, 2016. (71:15-16; App. 118-19). Deputy Owen further explained that Friedlander appeared in court for his plea and sentencing on April 15, 2016, on a "writ from OCI [Oshkosh Correctional Institution]" and that he was sent back to OCI on April 16, 2016, with a detainer "so OCI would contact us when he was done with his prison sentence to serve the remainder of this jail sentence in our county." (71:16; App. 119). Regarding the detainer, Deputy

¹ *Cf. State v. Fearing*, 2000 WI App. 229, ¶10, fn.6 ("a court has the authority to order good time when it imposes confinement in jail as a condition of probation..." (citing *Prue v. State*, 63 Wis. 2d 109, 114, 216 N.W.2d 43 (1974))).

Owen explained that the jail "still [has] the detainer, but OCI never contacted us to pick [Friedlander] up." (71:17; App. 120). Deputy Owen also explained that generally, it is the prison's responsibility to notify the jail when an inmate is available to be transported back to jail on a detainer, that "[i]f the prison doesn't let us know, we just assume he was still in prison," and that it is not an inmate's responsibility to report to jail after serving a prison sentence. (71:18-19; App. 121-22).

Next, the state questioned Deputy Owen about the jail's contact with Friedlander about "the need to complete his conditional jail time." (71:19; App. 122). Deputy Owen explained that Captain Scott contacted Friedlander on November 11, 2016, and that "we weren't going to put out a warrant or anything like that, but it was our understanding he would have to come back to serve that sentence." (71:19; App. 122).

Based upon the evidence and the record before the court, Friedlander's counsel argued that Friedlander was entitled to sentence credit against his conditional jail term pursuant to *State v. Riske*, 152 Wis. 2d 260, 448 N.W.2d 260 (Ct. App. 1989), and *State v. Dentici*, 2002 WI App 77, 251 Wis. 2d 436, 643 N.W.2d 180. (71:22-23). In response, the court reviewed these two cases and counsel called Friedlander to testify. (71:24-41; App. 127-144).

Friedlander testified that after sentencing he returned to Oshkosh Correctional Institution. (71:25; App. 128). Prior to his release on September 27, 2016, he spoke with his social worker and a records office staff member about the detainer. (71:26; App. 129). Friedlander testified that "I was told by the social worker that the detainer could not be in place because the time that I sat in Oshkosh would eat up the eight-month sentence that I received on April 15th for the

bail jumping charge." (71:27; App. 130). Friedlander further testified that he inquired again about the detainer and was told that he needed to contact his probation officer (71:28; App. 131). Friedlander testified that he spoke with his probation officer two times prior to his release and that "[i]n regards to the detainer, she told me that it was not up to her whatsoever; that it was up to the judge." (71:28-29; App. 131-32). Friedlander next explained that upon his release from prison on September 27, 2016, he immediately had face-to-face meeting with his probation officer and was again told that whether he had any time left to serve on the conditional jail term was up to the judge and out of her control. (71:29-30; App. 132-33).

Next, Friedlander testified that on November 11, 2016, he received a call from his probation officer, who told him to call Captain Scott at the Jefferson County Jail. (71:31; App. 134). Friedlander testified that his probation officer "asked or advised Captain Scott not to issue a warrant, and I, um, told both of them that if I needed to turn myself in, all they needed to do was call me and tell me. ... I did everything in my power to resolve this." (71:32; App. 135).

Regarding his phone call with Captain Scott, Friedlander testified that Captain Scott did not tell him that he needed to report to the jail and that he asked Captain Scott not to issue a warrant because "if he needed me to report, just get a hold of me." (71:33; App. 136).

Prior to being cross examined by the state, the court asked Friedlander how many times he had been convicted of a crime. (71:33; App. 136). With the assistance of the state, the court noted that Friedlander has nine prior convictions. (71:34; App. 137).

On cross examination, Friedlander acknowledged that the court ordered him to serve eight months conditional jail time. (71:34-35; App. 137-38). With regards to why Friedlander thought he had completed his eight-month conditional jail term, Friedlander testified that he was told by the prison staff that "good time" would be applied to that sentence." (71:37-38; App.140-41). Nevertheless, Friedlander acknowledged that at the time of his plea and sentencing, he believed that he would have to return to the county jail to complete his conditional jail term. (71:39-40; App. 142-43).

The court then heard argument. Counsel for Friedlander argued that pursuant to *Riske* and *Dentici*, and the evidence presented to the court, that Friedlander is entitled to credit against his conditional jail term from the date of his release from prison on September 27, 2017, through December 1, 2016. (71:42-45; App. 145-48). The state made no argument. (71:45; App. 148).

The court disagreed with Friedlander. (71:45; App. 148). First, the court noted that "it could not ignore the significant factual differences" between Friedlander's case and the facts in *Dentici* and *Riske*. (71:45-47; App. 148-50). Second, the court considered Friedlander's prior convictions as they relate to his credibility and found him not to be credible "as it relates to his obligation to serve the remainder of this sentence." (71:47; App. 150). Third, the court faulted Friedlander for not proactively coming back to the court or to the jail to inquire about serving the remaining portion of his sentence. (71:47; App. 150). Thus, the court remanded Friedlander to the jail to serve the remainder of his conditional jail term. (71:47; App. 150). The court entered a written order concerning the December 1, 2016, hearing on December 12, 2016. (48).

Friedlander now appeals the court's order, which denied Friedlander any credit against his conditional jail term from September 27, 2016, through December 1, 2016. (48). Not only did the court's order require Friedlander to serve the remaining 75 days of his conditional jail term starting on December 1, 2016, but it has the effect of denying Friedlander 65 days sentence credit, should his probation be revoked in the future.

ARGUMENT

Friedlander Is Entitled to an Additional 65 Days Sentence Credit to Account for Time He Spent "at Liberty" through No Fault of His Own.

Normally, a defendant must be "in custody" to be entitled to sentence credit under Wis. Stat. § 973.155. However, time spent "at liberty" satisfies the in custody requirement when a defendant is released from custody through no fault of his own. That is exactly what happened in this case, and therefore, Friedlander is entitled to an additional 65 days sentence credit.

A. The Standard of Review

A circuit court's findings of fact concerning sentence credit are upheld unless they are clearly erroneous. *State v. Johnson*, 2007 WI 107, ¶29, 304 Wis. 2d 318, 735 N.W.2d 505. Determining the appropriate amount of sentence credit to which a defendant is entitled, however, is a question of statutory interpretation that presents a question of law that an appellate court reviews de novo. *Id.*, ¶27. Statutory interpretation generally begins with the language of the statute. *See State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane County*, 2004 WI 58, ¶45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110.

However, the court of appeals is bound by its prior decisions and "may not overrule, modify or withdraw language from a previously published decision of the court of appeals." *Cook v. Cook*, 208 Wis. 2d 166, 190, 560 N.W.2d 246, 256 (1997).

B. Entitlement to Sentence Credit for Time Spent "At Liberty."

A defendant is entitled to credit towards the service of a sentence for time spent in custody in connection with the course of conduct for which sentence is imposed. Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(a). Accordingly, a defendant is entitled to sentence credit for time spent in custody as a condition of probation. *State v. Gilbert*, 115 Wis. 2d 371, 379-80, 340 N.W.2d 511 (1983). When a defendant is released from custody through no fault of his own, he is entitled to sentence credit for the period of time spent at liberty. *State v. Riske*, 152 Wis. 2d 260, 448 N.W.2d 260 (Ct. App. 1989) and *State v. Dentici*, 2002 WI App 77, 251 Wis. 2d 436, 643 N.W.2d 180.

Wisconsin recognizes the principle that "where a prisoner is discharged from a penal institution, without any contributing fault on his part and without violation of conditions of parole, ... his sentence continues to run while he is at liberty." *See Riske*, 152 Wis. 2d at 264, *Dentici*, 251 Wis. 2d at 443 (quoting *White v. Pearlman*, 42 F.2d 788, 789 (10th Cir. 1930). As such, a defendant who is at liberty through no fault of his own satisfies the in custody requirement under Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(a). *Dentici*, 251 Wis. 2d at 442-43. So long as the defendant also satisfies the statute in connection with requirement, sentence credit must be granted.

In *Riske*, the defendant was sentenced to a year in jail. 152 Wis. 2d at 262. Riske surrendered to the jailer but was told that the jail could not accommodate him and that he should report back in 26 days. *Id*. Riske failed to report back to the jail until he was arrested over a year later. *Id*. The circuit court then ordered him to serve the full one-year jail sentence. *Id*. On appeal, the state conceded and the court agreed that Riske was entitled to credit against his sentence to account for the 26 days he was out of custody at the direction of the jail. *Id*. at 263-65.

This is so because Riske was out of jail through no fault of his. Sentences are continuous, unless interrupted by escape, violation of parole, or some fault of the prisoner, and "where a prisoner is discharged from a penal institution, without any contributing fault on his part, and without violation of conditions of parole, ... his sentence continues to run while he is at liberty." *White v. Pearlman*, 42 F.2d 788, 789 (10th Cir. 1930).

Id. at 264.

The court noted that many other jurisdictions recognize this principle² and that the Wisconsin Supreme Court has recognized it by way of *dictum*,³ as has the attorney general.⁴ *Id*. at 264-65.

² Citing the Second, Ninth, Tenth, and Eleventh Circuit Courts of Appeals and appellate courts in Alabama, Maryland, Nebraska, and New Hampshire. Of the cases cited by the court, especially notable is U.S. v. Martinez, 837 F.2d 861 (9th Cir. 1988). Martinez presents a fact scenario on par with Friedlander's: Martinez was erroneously never required to report to prison because of a clerical error. 837 F.2d at 862 When asked whether Martinez could be required to start serving his sentence upon the government's realization of its mistake, the court noted: "Under the doctrine of credit for time at liberty, a convicted person is entitled to credit against his sentence for the time he was erroneously at liberty provided there is a showing of simple or mere negligence on behalf of the government and provided the delay in execution of sentence was through no fault of his own." Martinez, 837 F.2d at 865. Because our sentence credit statute was based upon the federal statute, Wisconsin courts have often looked to federal case law when interpreting Wis. Stat. § 973.155. See State v. Carter, 2010 WI 77, ¶¶134-36, 327 Wis. 2d 1, 785 N.W.2d 516.

³Citing *In re Crow: Habeas Corpus*, 60 Wis. 349, 370, 19 N.W. 713, 722 (1884) ("There is still another question arising from the cause of the failure of the actual imprisonment during the time or whole term of the sentence, of much importance, and that is, whether a prisoner can be rearrested and imprisoned after such term has expired, *when such failure was not the fault or crime* of the prisoner himself. In *Ex parte Clifford*, *supra*, it is held that recapture after the term can be made only in case of *escape* by the fault of the prisoner or criminal escape.").

⁴ Citing 14 Op. Att'y Gen 512 (1925) (prisoner who because of flu epidemic was refused admission to prison on day his sentence began entitled to credit on sentence for period intervening until his admission).

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