## RECEIVED

### 10-15-2018

## STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF SUPREME COURT

# IN SUPREME COURT<sup>OF WISCONSIN</sup>

Case No. 2017AP1337-CR

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

ZACHARY S. FRIEDLANDER,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Review of a Decision of The Court of Appeals, District IV, Reversing an Order Denying Sentence Credit Entered in Jefferson County Circuit Court, the Honorable David J. Wambach, Presiding.

#### **RESPONSE BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT**

MARK R. THOMPSON Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1107841

JEREMY A. NEWMAN Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1084404

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

#### ARGUMENT

I. Because a Convicted Defendant Who Is at Liberty From a Court's Confinement Order Through No Fault of His Own Could Be Charged with Escape for Unlawfully Leaving That Status, *Riske* and *Dentici* Are Consistent with Wis. Stat. § 973.155 and the Definition of "In Custody" Provided in *Magnuson*.

A. Introduction and standard of review

The principle of credit for time erroneously spent "at liberty"<sup>5</sup> first recognized in *Riske* has been good law for nearly 30 years in Wisconsin. This principle survived State v. Magnuson, 2000 WI 19, ¶6, 233 Wis. 2d 40, 606 N.W.2d 536, in which this court determined that a defendant is "in custody" for sentence credit purposes when he could be charged with escape for leaving his status. Id.,  $\P$  25, 31, 47. Following Magnuson, Dentici affirmed the broad principle in *Riske* and further harmonized that principle within the context of Magnuson. Accordingly, *Dentici* already addressed any apparent conflict between Riske and Magnuson and correctly

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> "At liberty" is a term of art used by case law relevant to the issues in this case. *Supra* n.2. Although this section describes Riske, Dentici, or Freidlander as "at liberty" throughout, they were not, in fact at liberty—or completely free from government control—as the term is commonly understood. They remained subject to a court's confinement order upon their mistaken releases from jail and could have been charged with escape for leaving their statuses without lawful authority, thereby complying with Wis. Stat. § 973.155 and the definition of "in custody" provided in *Magnuson*.

found that there is no conflict between the principle of credit for time spent at liberty through no fault of the defendant and section 973.155, as interpreted by *Magnuson*.

The state nonetheless advances that this court should overturn *Riske* and *Dentici* because they cannot be reconciled with the definition of custody provided in *Magnuson*. The state's argument is based on an overly-narrow reading of the holding in *Magnuson* and the escape statue, Wis. Stat. § 946.42, and an oversimplification of Riske's, Dentici's, and Friedlander's statuses once they were released from confinement through no fault of their own. Because the holdings in *Riske* and *Dentici* are consistent with the holding in *Magnuson*, this court need not overturn those cases.

This case involves the interpretation and application of the sentence credit statute, Wis. Stat. § 973.155. Determining the amount of sentence credit to which a defendant is entitled requires statutory interpretation and application, which presents of law that this a question court reviews "independently while benefitting from prior decisions of other courts." State v. Obriecht, 2015 WI 66, ¶21, 363 Wis. 2d 816, 867 N.W.2d 387.

The "cardinal rule in statutory interpretation is to discern the intent of the legislature." *State v. Rosenburg*, 208 Wis. 2d 191, ¶6, 560 N.W.2d 266. Statutory interpretation generally begins with the language of the statute. *See State ex rel Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cnty.*, 2004 WI 58, ¶45, 271

# Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. This court further noted that:

Context is important to meaning. So, too, is the structure of the statute in which the operative language appears. Therefore, statutory language is interpreted in the context in which it is used; not in isolation but as part of a whole; in relation to the language of surrounding or closely-related statutes . . . .

*Id.*, ¶46.

B. Under *Magnuson*, an offender is "in custody" for sentence credit purposes if he could be charged with escape for leaving his status.

The sentence credit statute provides that a convicted defendant is entitled to credit towards the service of his sentence when he is (1) in custody, and (2) that custody is "in connection with the course of conduct for which sentence was imposed." Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(a); *Marcus Johnson*, 304 Wis. 2d 318, ¶27. A defendant is entitled to sentence credit for time spent in custody as a condition of probation. *State v. Gilbert*, 115 Wis. 2d 371, 379–80, 340 N.W.2d 511 (1983). The issue in this case is limited to whether or not a person who is at liberty from court-ordered confinement through no fault of their own is "in custody" under section 973.155.

The sentence credit statute does not expressly define what it means to be "in custody." *Magnuson*, 233 Wis. 2d 40, ¶13. However, in *Magnuson*, this court analyzed Wis. Stat. § 973.155 and determined that "for sentence credit purposes an offender's status

constitutes custody whenever the offender is subject to an escape charge for leaving that status." *Id.*,  $\P$  25, 31, 47.

Magnuson sought credit for time spent on house arrest with electronic home monitoring, ordered as conditions of bond so that he could prepare for trial with his attorney. Id.,  $\P\P3-6$ . This court determined that Magnuson's release on bond did not meet the definition of custody in the escape statute, Wis. Stat. § 946.42(1)(a). See id, ¶¶40-41. Although Magnuson did not meet the definition of custody provided in the statute, escape this court acknowledged that the definition of custody provided in Wis. Stat. § 946.41(1)(a) was nonexclusive, and that it was important to read statues "in pari materia." Id., ¶21.

This court then expanded its inquiry to consider other statutes in order to determine whether Magnuson was in custody. *Id.*, ¶¶23, 26. First, the court considered Wis. Stat. § 301.046, which provides that "prisoners" placed in community residential confinement with electronic home monitoring may be charged with escape for unauthorized flight. *Id.*, ¶28 (citing Wis. Stat. § 301.046(1), (5) & (6)). Next, the court considered Wis. Stat. § 302.048, which governs the intensive sanctions program,<sup>6</sup> and similarly provides that failure to comply with the conditions

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> A person is only eligible for the intensive sanctions program if he "has been *convicted of* a felony . . ." Wis. Stat. § 301.038(2)(am) (emphasis added). This court also noted that "[a] circuit court may no longer sentence an offender convicted of a felony occurring on or after December 31, 1999, to intensive sanctions." *Magnuson*, 233 Wis. 2d 40, ¶29 n.4.

of the intensive sanctions program subjects the participant to a charge of escape. *Id.*, ¶29 (citing Wis. Stat. § 301.048(5)). Finally, the court considered Wis. Stat. § 302.425(6), which provides that a person placed in home detention by "the sheriff, the . . . correctional institution, or the DOC" may be placed in home detention, and that failure to remain in that detention qualifies as an escape. *Id.*, ¶30 (citing Wis. Stat. § 302.425(3) & (6)).

Based on a review of the above statutes, this court ultimately concluded that pre-conviction release on bond with house arrest for "trial preparation purposes" did not constitute custody for under Wis. Stat. § 973.155. *Id.*, ¶¶41, 48. Specifically, the court noted that Magnuson was not placed in community confinement or home detention by the DOC or sheriff, and he was not sentenced and placed in the intensive sanctions program. *Id.*, ¶¶33, 34. The court further noted that Magnuson would have been subject to a charge of felony bail jumping—not escape—for violating his conditions of bond. *Id.*, ¶45.

In summation, Magnuson failed to meet the "in custody" requirement announced by this court because he was in pre-conviction confinement as a condition of bail. *Id.*, ¶46. Had he violated those conditions, he could have been charged with bail jumping, which directly contrasted with the rule announced by this court. *See id.* 

Unlike Magnuson, Riske, Dentici, and Friedlander were already convicted and ordered into confinement by the court. Subsequent to that order, they were released from actual custody through no fault of their own. Thus, the operative question in this case is whether individuals in those circumstances could be subject to an escape charge for leaving their statuses.

> C. *Riske* and *Dentici* are consistent with Wis. Stat. § 973.155 and *Magnuson's* definition of "in custody".

In *Riske*, the court of appeals recognized that "where a prisoner is discharged from a penal institution, without any contributing fault on his part and without violations of the conditions of parole, . . . his sentence continues to run while he is at liberty." *Riske*, 152 Wis. 2d at 264 (quoting *White v. Pearlman*, 42 F.2d 788, 789 (10th Cir. 1930)). The court in *Riske* concluded that a defendant in those circumstances is therefore entitled to credit for time served. *Id.* at 264.

The defendant in *Riske* was sentenced to a year in jail. *Id.* at 262. Riske surrendered to the jailer but was told that the jail could not accommodate him and that he should report back in 26 days. *Id.* Riske failed to report back to the jail until he was arrested over a year later. *Id.* The circuit court then ordered him to serve the full one-year jail sentence. *Id.* On appeal, the state conceded and the court agreed<sup>7</sup> that Riske was entitled to credit against his sentence to account for the 26 days he was out of custody at the direction of the jail. *Id.* at 263–65. The court explained that:

This is so because Riske was out of jail through no fault of his. Sentences are continuous, unless interrupted by escape, violation of parole, or some fault of the prisoner, and "where a prisoner is discharged from a penal institution, without any contributing fault on his part, and without violation of conditions of parole, ... his sentence continues to run while he is at liberty."

Id. at 264. (quoting Pearlman, 42 F.2d at 789).

 $<sup>^{7}</sup>$  The state argues that its concession in *Riske* was made in error. (State's Br. 14, n. 8). The state correctly notes that appellate courts are not bound by the state's concessions of law. See State v. Mares, 149 Wis. 2d. 519, 530 n.4, 439 N.W.2d 146 (Ct. App. 1989) (rejecting the state's concession that there was "probable" error in the underlying trial court ruling); State v. McAlister, 2018 WI 34, ¶36, 380 Wis. 2d 684, 911 N.W.2d 77 (rejecting the state's concession that McAlister met the requirements of his newly discovered evidence claim). But the state's position overlooks the fact that the court of appeals in *Riske* nonetheless agreed with the issue conceded by the state and incorporated that analysis into its opinion. See Riske, 152 Wis. 2d at 264–65. This court should not, as the state seems to assert, completely disregard the Riske court's adoption of the conceded issue solely because the state questions that concession nearly 30 years later.

The court in *Riske* noted that many other jurisdictions recognize the principle<sup>8</sup> and that this Court has previously recognized it by way of *dictum*,<sup>9</sup> as has the Wisconsin Attorney General.<sup>10</sup> *Id.* at 264–65. Accordingly, the court granted Riske 26 days of credit for his time spent at liberty through no fault of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Citing numerous federal and state courts. Especially notable is U.S. v. Martinez, 837 F.2d 861 (9th Cir. 1988). Martinez was erroneously never required to report to prison because of a clerical error. 837 F.2d at 862 When asked whether Martinez could be required to start serving his sentence upon the government's realization of its mistake, the court noted: "Under the doctrine of credit for time at liberty, a convicted person is entitled to credit against his sentence for the time he was erroneously at liberty provided there is a showing of simple or mere negligence on behalf of the government and provided the delay in execution of sentence was through no fault of his own." Martinez, 837 F.2d at 865. Because our sentence credit statute was based upon the federal statute, Wisconsin courts have often looked to federal case law when interpreting Wis. Stat. § 973.155. See State v. Carter, 2010 WI 77, ¶¶134-36, 327 Wis. 2d 1, 785 N.W.2d 516.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Citing In re Crow: Habeas Corpus, 60 Wis. 349, 370, 19 N.W. 713, 722 (1884) ("There is still another question arising from the cause of the failure of the actual imprisonment during the time or whole term of the sentence, of much importance, and that is, whether a prisoner can be rearrested and imprisoned after such term has expired, when such failure was not the fault or crime of the prisoner himself. In Ex parte Clifford, supra, it is held that recapture after the term can be made only in case of escape by the fault of the prisoner or criminal escape.").

 $<sup>^{10}</sup>$  Citing 14 Op. Att'y Gen 512 (1925) (prisoner who because of flu epidemic was refused admission to prison on the day his sentence began was entitled to credit on his sentence for period intervening until his admission).

his own. A petition for review by this court was subsequently denied. *State v. Riske*, 449 N.W.2d 276 (1989).

Notably, *Magnuson* was decided 11 years after *Riske*. In *Magnuson*, this court neither commented on nor analyzed the holding in *Riske*. See Magnuson, 233 Wis. 2d 40. Because this court thoroughly considered how its definition of custody would affect prior decisions, its silence with respect to *Riske* strongly suggests that the two are not in conflict. See *Magnuson*, 233 Wis. 2d 40, ¶31 n.7 (explaining that prior decisions in which the appellate courts found an individual was subject to an escape charge for leaving their statuses but nonetheless were denied credit were limited by this court's holding in *Magnuson*).

Two years after this court decided *Magnuson*, the court of appeals decided *Dentici*, which applied the same principles espoused in *Riske* and further harmonized those principles with the holding in Magnuson. In Dentici, the defendant was placed on probation and ordered to serve 60 days in jail as a condition of probation, 251 Wis. 2d 436, ¶2. Upon arrival at the jail, Dentici was told that the jail was overcrowded and that he should return in 25 days. Id. Dentici returned as instructed and served his conditional jail term. Id. Dentici's probation was revoked the next year and the court sentenced him to two years imprisonment. Id.,  $\P$ 3. In the circuit court, Dentici was denied credit against his sentence for the 25 days he spent out of custody because the jail was overcrowded. Id.

On appeal, Dentici sought credit for the 25 days he spent "at liberty from the House of Correction through no fault of his own." *Id.* Unlike in *Riske*, the State contended that Dentici was not "in custody" during the period of time he was "at liberty through no fault of his own." *Id.*, ¶5.

court disagreed with the state and The concluded that "Dentici's leave from the House of Correction corresponded with the definition of custody provided in Wis. Stat. §§ 946.42, and 973.15. Id.<sup>11</sup> Further, the court found that Dentici's circumstances were consistent with the definition of custody provided in *Magnuson* because he could have been charged with escape. Id., ¶12. In so holding, the court followed the analytical framework employed in Magnuson. See id.,  $\P\P7-13$ . Specifically, the court concluded Dentici was subject to "proposed conditions of leave" and was restricted to the confines of the state, akin to the requirements of Wis. Stat. § 303.068, which is listed in the "custody" definition in the escape statute, Wis. Stat. § 946.42(1)(a)1.f. Id., ¶12. The court noted that, had Dentici violated any of those conditions, he could have been charged with escape. Id.

The court concluded that Dentici was in custody because he was "temporarily outside the institution whether for the purposes of work, school,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Wis. Stat. § 973.15(7) reads: "If a convicted offender escapes, the time during which he or she is unlawfully at large after escape shall not be computed as service of the sentence." Wis. Stat. § 946.42(1)(a) sets forth a list of types of custody which subject an offender to a criminal escape charge.

medical care, a leave granted under s. 303.068, a temporary leave or furlough . . . or otherwise," and therefore entitled to credit for his time spent at liberty through no fault of his own. Id., ¶12 (citing Wis. Stat. § 946.42(1)(a)1.f.). Notably, the state did not petition this court for review.

Judge Fine dissented and opined that Dentici was not "in custody" or entitled to credit under Wis. Stat. § 937.155 because:

> The Majority does not tell us under what provision of law, or under what circumstances, Dentici could have been guilty of 'escape' before the date he had to report to the House of Correction, and I am aware of none; he was free-'escape from freedom' is not yet a crime."

*Id.*, ¶15 (Fine, J. dissenting).

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